
EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING PACKET

March 8th, 2023

CONTENTS

Meeting Agenda 2

Meeting Minutes: 2.8.23 3

Treasurer’s Report 6

Summary of Retirement Items

403(b) Retirement Plan Audited Financial Statements

Packet Page 1



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS - MEETING AGENDA

MEETING INFORMATION

Ewing Marion Kauffman School
Monday, March 6th, 2023

Board of Directors Meeting (8:30am CT)
Meeting will be held at the Kauffman School

6401 Paseo Blvd
Kansas City, MO 64131

AGENDA

● CALL TO ORDER
○ Welcome guests
○ Review and discuss meeting agenda
○ Action: Meeting minutes (2.8.23)
○ Board Chair Comments

● CLOSED SESSION / EXECUTIVE SESSION
○ Close meeting pursuant to R.S.Mo 610.021(6) - discussion of a student matter, R.S.Mo 610.021(1) - discussion of legal

matters and R.S.Mo 610.021(3) - discussion of a personnel matter
● GOVERNANCE

○ Board Chair Comments
○ Board Development Discussion

● FINANCE
○ Action: Approve Treasurer’s Report, including Check Register

● LEADERSHIP REPORT
● COMMUNITY FORUM

○ The Board will hear comments from community members regarding items on the agenda or other issues that should
be brought to the Board’s attention. Individual comments are limited to three minutes. It is anticipated the time
allotted for the community forum will be no longer than fifteen minutes, unless time is extended by the Board Chair.
Individuals who do not have an opportunity to speak during the allotted time will be given first opportunity at the
next regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting.

● ADJOURN

FUTURE MEETINGS

● Committee Meetings: Monday, April 10, 2023 (5:00 pm CST)
● Board Meeting: Wednesday, April 23, 2023 (8:30 am CST)

Packet Page 2



MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF EWING MARION
KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC

February 8th, 2023

A regular meeting of the Board of Directors of Ewing Marion Kauffman School, Inc., a Missouri nonprofit corporation exempt from
federal taxation under Internal Revenue Code § 501(c)(3), was held at its headquarters in Kansas City, Missouri on February 8,
2023, pursuant to public notice provided at least 24 hours in advance. The meeting was held both in person and via Zoom such
that all could hear and be heard and see and seen.

Participating in person were board members Kelly Barnes, Brett Hembree, and Juan Rangel.

Participating via Zoom conferencing technology so that all could hear and be heard were Directors Tracy McFerrin, Kristin Bechard,
Jerry Williams, and Corey Scholes.

Also participating from the School were Tim Racer, legal counsel and Deputy General Counsel for the Ewing Marion Kauffman
Foundation and Katie Pasniewski, interim Chief Executive Officer and Cat Cain, Director of Special Projects. Kim Jones, legal counsel
with the firm Seyferth, Blumenthal was an invited guest.

No one from the community was present at the outset of the meeting.

Ms. McFerrin chaired the meeting. Mr. Racer served as recording secretary. Ms. McFerrin called the meeting to order at 8:30 am,
welcomed those in attendance, and previewed the agenda.

Approval of Minutes

After discussion and motion duly made (Williams) and seconded (Rangel), the board unanimously approved minutes from board
meetings that were held on January 11, 2023, and January 27, 2023. The minutes were included in the agenda distributed prior to
the meeting beginning on page 3.

Closed Session

It was then moved (Hembree) and seconded (Rangel) that the board enter into closed session to discuss personnel and legal
matters. Ms. Jones was invited to participate.

A roll call vote was held and directors Hembree, Kelly, Scholes, Williams, Rangel, Bechard, Rangel, McFerrin all voted in favor of
entering closed session. The board then entered closed session at 8:35 am. Ms. Pasniewski left the meeting at 8:48 am.

Ms. Pasniewski provided an update on unfair labor practices claims that union organizers have filed with the National Labor
Relations Board. Ms. Pasniewski then asked Kim Jones to provide an overview of allegations made and the responses that legal
counsel is preparing.

Ms. Pasniewski left the closed session discussion at 8:48 am. Ms. Pasniewski re-joined the meeting at 9:20 am.

No action items were required as a result of this discussion.

Mr. Rangel left the meeting at 9:18 am.

After the update, it was moved (Barnes) and seconded (Williams) that the board exit closed session.

A roll call vote was held and directors Hembree, Kelly, Scholes, Williams, Rangel, Bechard, and McFerrin all voted in favor of exiting
closed session (Mr. Rangel was no present during the vote. The board then exited closed session at 9:23 am.

Packet Page 3



Mr. Rangel re-joined the meeting at 9:21 am.

Ms. McFerrin then asked Ms. Pasniewski to lead a discussion on some action items.

MSPSC Compliance Requirement- Revocation Policy & Procedures

Ms. Pasniewski noted that the Missouri Charter Public School Commission (“MCPSC”), which is the School’s charter sponsor,
requires that board members for the charter schools MCPSC sponsors acknowledge that policies and procedures that any charter
school that has it charter revoked should follow in order to shut down the school in an orderly manner. The focus of these policies
and procedures is on safeguarding records and information relevant to students as they continue their education at other
organizations. The specific policies and the procedures that MCSPC expects boards to approve were set forth on page 7 of the
agenda distributed prior to the meeting.

The governance committee recommended to the full Board that the policy be approved. It was moved (Rangel) that the board
adopt the committee’s recommendation and approve the proposed MCPSC Revocation Policy & Procedures as set forth in the
board agenda. After an opportunity for discussion, the motion was approved unanimously.

Treasurer’s Report

Ms. Pasniewski presented the treasurer’s report, reviewing the materials distributed with the meeting agenda prior to the meeting
beginning on page 41. Ms. Pasniewski continued with an overview of the financial statements and check register (which began on
page 49 of the agenda), including highlights from the check register. Ms. Pasniewski noted a favorability to forecasts due largely to
an increase in revenue the school expects to receive as a result of recent legislation passed by the Missouri legislature.

After discussion and upon motion duly made (Bechard) and seconded (Hembree), the Board unanimously approved the
Treasurer’s report as presented in the agenda, including the check register.

403(b) Plan Auditor

Ms. Pasniewski then presented a recommendation that the board retain CBIZ as the 403(b) auditor. CBIZ conducted the most
recent audit of the 403(b) plan, though the Retirement Plan Committee has not yet had an opportunity to review and approve the
audit. Nonetheless, Ms. Pasniewski noted competent conduct on the part of CBIZ in conducting the audit and relayed
management’s desire to retain CBIZ for the next subsequent audit.

After discussion and upon motion duly made (Rangel) and seconded (McFerrin), the Board unanimously approved CBIZ as the
auditor of the 403(b) plan for the current fiscal year.

Addition of Roth 403(b) option

The board then discussed a proposed amendment to the schools’ 403(b) plan that would permit the addition of a Roth option to
the platform. It was noted that the school would incur costs of roughly $3,000 to do the work necessary to make the adjustments
that would accommodate a Roth 403(b) option to the platform.

It was then moved (McFerrin) and seconded (Bechard) that the board authorize an amendment to the school’s 403(b) plan to
permit the addition of a Roth option. After an opportunity for discussion, the board voted unanimously to approve the motion.

Reminder to complete ethics form

Packet Page 4



Ms. McFerrin reminded board members to complete and submit their required annual ethics and disclosure filings as required.
There was no action item required as a result of this discussion.

Discussions Regarding Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation Grant Funding

Ms. McFerrin noted that discussion regarding a long-term grant and relationship with the Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation is
currently on hold. Therefore, the current process of requesting one-year grants will continue for the time being. It is anticipated
that long-term discussions may resume next fall. Ms. Pasniewski noted discussions with the Foundation have been very
collaborative. Materials relating to the dashboard development were set forth on page

There was no action item required as a result of this discussion.

Dashboard Development

Ms. Pasniewski noted that a dashboard is being developed to measure school performance and sought input from the board as to
what should be reflected on that dashboard and how the board will use it. Materials relating to the current vision for a dashboard
were set forth in the agenda beginning on page 21. Discussion ensued.

There was no action item required as a result of this discussion.

Charter School Board Engagement Event Discussion

Kelly Barnes and Jerry Williams relayed information they gathered while attending a Charter School Board Chair meeting several
weeks ago. They attended on behalf of Tracy McFerrin who was not able to attend. They discussed best practices regarding board
management and the possibility of creating a way for various charter school boards to engage with each other. Mr. Williams noted
that representatives from various schools seemed to be in agreement that charter schools need to be more engaged in policy.

There was no action item required as a result of this discussion.

Stakeholder Engagement Program

Ms. Pasniewski provided an overview of the launch of a new program that School Smart KC is operating called the Let’s Talk
Learning initiative. The goal of this program is to improve engagement between schools, parents, and other stakeholders in the
community. There appear to be three charter schools actively engaged in the program at this stage: Kauffman, Hogan, and
Guadalupe. Ms. Pasniewski reviewed the hopes for this program and anticipated next steps.

There was no action item required as a result of this discussion.

Community Forum

No one from the community was present and so there was no community forum. There being no further business, the meeting
adjourned at 10:00 am.

John Tyler, Secretary

Packet Page 5



Treasurer’s Report

Packet Page 6



Packet Page 7



Packet Page 8



Packet Page 9



Packet Page 10



Packet Page 11



Packet Page 12



Packet Page 13



Packet Page 14



Packet Page 15



Packet Page 16



Summary of Retirement Items

Headline Summary

403B Audit The 2021 audit of EMKS’s 403B Plan was recently completed.

Committee Action: Approve the 2021 403B Plan audit

Loan Policy
Consideration

● EMKS is considering the implementation of a loan policy that would allow employs to take loans

from their retirement investments.

● We are currently weighing the pros and cons of such a move, including the costs of

implementation / ongoing execution and the necessity of employee education.

● If we were to implement a loan policy, we would use EMKF’s policy as a model for our own.

Committee Action: None; discussion only

Packet Page 17



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) 
RETIREMENT PLAN 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 



- 1 -

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Retirement Plan Committee 
Ewing Marion Kauffman School, Inc. 403(b) Retirement Plan 

Scope and Nature of the ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) Audit for the 2021 Financial 
Statements 

We have performed the audit of the financial statements of the Ewing Marion Kauffman School, 
Inc. 403(b) Retirement Plan (“the Plan”), an employee benefit plan subject to the Employee 
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), as permitted by ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) 
(“ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) audit”). The financial statements comprise the statement of net 
assets available for benefits as of December 31, 2021, the related statement of changes in net 
assets available for benefits for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements. 

Management, having determined it is permissible in the circumstances, has elected to have the 
audit of the 2021 financial statements performed in accordance with ERISA Section 
103(a)(3)(C) pursuant to 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor's Rules and 
Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA. As permitted by ERISA Section 
103(a)(3)(C), our audit need not extend to any statements or information related to assets held 
for investment of the Plan (“investment information”) by a bank or similar institution or insurance 
carrier that is regulated, supervised, and subject to periodic examination by a state or federal 
agency, provided that the statements or information regarding assets so held are prepared and 
certified to by the bank or similar institution or insurance carrier in accordance with 29 CFR 
2520.103-5 of the Department of Labor's Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure 
under ERISA (“qualified institution”). 

Management has obtained a certification from a qualified institution as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, stating that the certified investment information, as described in Note 3 to 
the financial statements, is complete and accurate. 

Opinion on the 2021 Financial Statements 

In our opinion, based on our audit and on the procedures performed as described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 2021 Financial Statements section: 

 The amounts and disclosures in the accompanying 2021 financial statements, other than
those agreed to or derived from the certified investment information, are presented fairly,
in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

 The information in the accompanying 2021 financial statements related to assets held by
and certified to by a qualified institution agrees to, or is derived from, in all material
respects, the information prepared and certified by an institution that management
determined meets the requirements of ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C).

Member of Kreston International – a global network of independent accounting firms

Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
700 W 47th St Ste 1100  Kansas City, MO 64112

Main: 816.945.5600  Fax: 816.897.1280  www.mhmcpa.com



- 2 -

Basis for Opinion on the 2021 Financial Statements 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 2021 Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are required to be independent of the Plan and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the 2021 Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Management's election of the ERISA Section 
103(a)(3)(C) audit does not affect management's responsibility for the financial statements. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Plan's 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the 2021 financial 
statements are issued or available to be issued. 

Management is also responsible for maintaining a current plan instrument, including all plan 
amendments, administering the Plan, and determining that the Plan's transactions that are 
presented and disclosed in the financial statements are in conformity with the Plan's provisions, 
including maintaining sufficient records with respect to each of the participants, to determine the 
benefits due or which may become due to such participants. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 2021 Financial Statements 

Except as described in the Scope and Nature of the ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) Audit for the 
2021 Financial Statements section of our report, our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in 
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on these 
financial statements. 



- 3 -

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Plan's internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Plan's ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

Our audit did not extend to the certified investment information, except for obtaining and reading 
the certification, comparing the certified investment information with the related information 
presented and disclosed in the 2021 financial statements, and reading the disclosures relating 
to the certified investment information to assess whether they are in accordance with the 
presentation and disclosure requirements of accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  

Accordingly, the objective of an ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) audit is not to express an opinion 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are presented fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Other Matter - Supplemental Schedule Required by ERISA 

The supplemental schedule of assets (held at end of year) as of December 31, 2021, is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial 
statements but is supplementary information required by the Department of Labor's Rules and 
Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements. The information included in the supplemental 
schedule, other than that agreed to or derived from the certified investment information, has 
been subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and 
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. For 
information included in the supplemental schedule that agreed to or is derived from the certified 
investment information, we compared such information to the related certified investment 
information.  



- 4 -

In forming our opinion on the supplemental schedule, we evaluated whether the supplemental 
schedule, other than the information agreed to or derived from the certified investment 
information, including its form and content, is presented in conformity with the Department of 
Labor's Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA. 

In our opinion: 

 The form and content of the supplemental schedule, other than the information in the
supplemental schedule that agreed to or is derived from the certified investment
information, are presented, in all material respects, in conformity with the Department of
Labor's Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA.

 The information in the supplemental schedule related to assets held by and certified to
by a qualified institution agrees to, or is derived from, in all material respects, the
information prepared and certified by an institution that management determined meets
the requirements of ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C).

Other Matter - Auditors’ Report on the 2020 Financial Statements 

We were engaged to audit the 2020 financial statements of the Plan. As permitted by 29 CFR 
2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and Disclosure 
under ERISA, the plan administrator instructed us not to perform and we did not perform any 
auditing procedures with respect to the information certified by the qualified institution. In our 
report dated August 31, 2021, we indicated that (a) because of the significance of the 
information that we did not audit, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion and accordingly, we did not express an opinion 
on the 2020 financial statements, and (b) the form and content of the information included in the 
2020 financial statements other than that derived from the certified information were presented 
in compliance with the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for Reporting and 
Disclosure under ERISA. 

Kansas City, Missouri 
September 15, 2022 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 

See Notes to Financial Statements 

- 5 -

STATEMENTS OF NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS 

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

ASSETS
Investments at fair value (See Note 4) $ 3,189,325  $ 2,395,914  

Employer matching contributions receivable 3,393  3,453  

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS $ 3,192,718  $ 2,399,367  

2021 2020



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 

See Notes to Financial Statements 

- 6 -

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS 

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value 

of investments $ 91,678  $ 268,322  
Dividends 328,763  111,586  
Other income 181  1,189  

420,622  381,097  

Contributions:
Employer 189,197  184,831  
Participants 228,127  238,016  
Rollover 15,104  - 

432,428  422,847  

TOTAL ADDITIONS 853,050  803,944  

Benefits paid to participants 59,699  137,418  

NET INCREASE 793,351  666,526  

NET ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS
Beginning of year 2,399,367  1,732,841  

End of year $ 3,192,718  $ 2,399,367  

2021 2020



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

- 7 - 
 

( 1 )  Description of plan 
 
The following description of the Ewing Marion Kauffman School, Inc. 403(b) Retirement 
Plan (the “Plan”) provides only general information. Participants should refer to the Plan 
document or Summary Plan Description for a more complete description of the Plan’s 
provisions, which are available from the plan administrator. 
 
General - The Plan is a defined contribution plan sponsored by Ewing Marion Kauffman 
School, Inc. (the “Organization”) for the benefit of its employees. All eligible employees 
are immediately eligible to participate upon hire. Employees who normally work less than 
20 hours per week or who are non-resident aliens are excluded from the Plan. The Plan 
is subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
(“ERISA”).   

The Plan is administered by Organization’s Retirement Plan Committee (“Committee”), 
which is a committee of designated Organization board members and Organization 
management. The Committee also works with a third party fiduciary consultant. The 
Committee has overall responsibility for the operation and administration of the Plan. 
The Committee determines the appropriateness of the Plan’s investment offerings, 
monitors investment performance, and reports to the entire Organization board. 

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (“CARES”) Act. The CARES Act, among other things, included 
several relief provisions available to tax qualified retirement plans and their participants. 
The Organization evaluated the relief provisions available to plan participants under the 
CARES Act and implemented a provision to allow special coronavirus distributions up to 
$100,000 through December 31, 2020. The Plan will be amended for the provisions 
implemented under the CARES Act by the time prescribed.  
 
Contributions - Each year, participants may contribute up to 100% of annual 
compensation as pre-tax contributions, as defined in the Plan. Participants may also 
contribute amounts representing distributions from other qualified defined benefit or 
contribution plans.  Additionally, participants age 50 or older, who are making 
contributions to the Plan, are allowed to make catch-up contributions as defined in the 
Plan.  Participants direct the investment of all contributions into various investment 
options offered by the Plan. The Organization will make a safe harbor matching 
contribution equal to 100% of the first 4% of eligible compensation that a participant 
contributes to the Plan. Additional discretionary non-elective contributions may be 
contributed at the option of the Organization. No such additional discretionary non-
elective contributions were made for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. Contributions are subject to certain Internal Revenue Code (“IRC”) 
limitations. 
 
Participant investment account options - The Plan currently offers various mutual 
funds as investment options for participants. Each investment option has its own 
investment strategy, which can be obtained through the prospectus of the respective 
fund. Participants may change their investment options at any time. 
 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

- 8 - 
 

( 1 )  Description of plan (continued) 
 
Participant accounts - Each participant’s account is credited with the participant’s 
contribution and allocations of the Organization’s matching contribution and plan 
earnings. Allocations are based on participant earnings or account balances, as defined. 
The benefit to which a participant is entitled is the benefit that can be provided from the 
participant’s vested account. 
 
Vesting - Participants are immediately vested in both their voluntary contributions and 
Organization’s safe harbor matching contributions plus actual earnings thereon. Vesting 
in the Organization’s discretionary non-elective contribution portion of their accounts is 
based on years of continuous service. The Organization’s discretionary non-elective 
contributions are subject to the following vesting schedule: 
 

Years of Service Vested %

Less than 1 0%
1 50%
2 100%  

 
Payment of benefits - On termination of service due to death, disability or retirement, or 
other reasons, a participant may elect to receive a vested benefit either in a single, lump-
sum amount, or installments over a specified period of time, not to exceed the life 
expectancy of the participant or the participant’s beneficiary, whichever is longer.  
Participants will be forced out of the Plan if their account balance is $5,000 or less 
(including rollover contributions), following severance from employment. Balances 
greater than $1,000 following severance from employment will be automatically rolled 
over into an IRA. This distribution will be available in a lump sum, installments, or as an 
Ad Hoc distribution. 
 
Under the CARES Act, eligible Plan participants could request special penalty-free 
distributions of up to $100,000 for qualifying coronavirus-related reasons. These reasons 
included the participant, spouse or dependent diagnosed with COVID-19, adverse 
financial consequences due to being quarantined, furloughed, laid off, having work hours 
reduced or being unable to work due to a lack of childcare due to COVID-19. The special 
coronavirus-related distributions waived the 10% early withdrawal penalty and were 
allowed to be made between January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020. 
 

( 2 )  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of accounting - The financial statements of the Plan are prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting. 
 
Use of estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and changes therein, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Accordingly, 
actual results may differ from those estimates. 
 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 9 -

( 2 )  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Investment valuation and income recognition - Investments are reported at fair value. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The 
Committee determines the Plan's valuation policies utilizing information provided by the 
investment custodian. See Note 4 for discussions of fair value measurements. 

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividends are 
recorded on the ex-dividend date. Net appreciation includes the Plan’s gains and losses 
on investments bought and sold as well as held during the year. 

Payment of benefits - Benefits are recorded when paid. 

Administrative expenses - Certain expenses of the Plan are paid by the Organization 
and are not included in the statements of changes in net assets available for benefits. 
Investment related expenses are included in net appreciation of fair value of 
investments. 

( 3 )  Information prepared and certified by the custodian 

The plan administrator has elected the method of annual reporting compliance permitted 
by 29 CFR 2520.103-8 of the Department of Labor’s Rules and Regulations for 
Reporting and Disclosure under ERISA. Accordingly, Fidelity Management Trust 
Company (“Fidelity”), the custodian of the Plan, has certified that the following data 
included in the accompanying financial statements and supplemental schedule are 
complete and accurate with respect to investments: 

 Investments at fair value
 Net appreciation in fair value of investments
 Dividends
 Schedule of assets (held at end of year)

The Plan’s independent public accountants did not perform auditing procedures with 
respect to this information, except for comparing such information to the related 
information included in the financial statements and supplemental schedule. 

( 4 )  Fair value measurements 

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the 
highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The three 
levels of the fair value hierarchy under Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Accounting Standard Codification 820 are described below: 

Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Plan has the ability 
to access. 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

- 10 - 
 

( 4 )  Fair value measurements (continued) 
 

Level 2  Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar 
assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or 
similar assets and liabilities in inactive markets; inputs other than quoted 
market prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and inputs that 
are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. If the asset or liability has a specified 
(contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for substantially 
the full term of the asset or liability. 

 
Level 3  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 

the fair value measurement. 
 

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is 
based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.  
Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at 
fair value. There have been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 
2021 and 2020.  

 
Mutual funds: Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds 
held by the Plan are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily Net Asset Value 
(“NAV”) and to transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Plan are deemed to 
be actively traded.  
 
The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Plan's 
investments at fair value as of December 31, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Mutual funds $ 3,189,325   $ -             $ -             $ 3,189,325   

Investments at Fair Value as of December 31, 2021 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Mutual funds $ 2,395,914   $ -             $ -             $ 2,395,914   

Level 2 Level 3
Investments at Fair Value as of December 31, 2020

TotalLevel 1

 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 11 -

( 5 )  Related party transactions and party-in-interest transactions 

Certain Plan investments are shares of mutual funds managed by Fidelity. Fidelity is the 
custodian as defined by the Plan and therefore, these transactions qualify as party-in-
interest transactions. Fees incurred by the Plan for the investment management services 
are included in net appreciation in fair value of the investments, as they are paid through 
revenue sharing, rather than a direct payment. The Plan did not make any direct 
payments to the third party administrator for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 
2020. The Organization pays directly any other fees related to the Plan’s operations. 

( 6 )  Plan termination 

Although it has not expressed any intent to do so, the Organization has the right under 
the Plan to discontinue its contributions at any time and to terminate the Plan subject to 
the provisions of ERISA. In the event of plan termination, participants would become 
100% vested in all Organization contributions. 

( 7 ) Tax status 

The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) has determined that the volume submitter plan has 
been designed to qualify under Section 403(b) of the IRC and informed custodian of 
such in a letter dated August 7, 2017. Although the Plan has been amended since 
receiving the opinion letter, the plan administrator believes that the Plan and related trust 
are currently designed and being operated in compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the IRC. 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require plan 
management to evaluate tax positions taken by the Plan and recognize a tax liability (or 
asset) if the Plan has taken an uncertain tax position that more likely than not would not 
be sustained upon examination by the IRS. The Plan is subject to routine audits by 
taxing jurisdictions; however, there are currently no audits for any tax periods in 
progress.  

( 8 ) Risks, uncertainties and concentrations 

The Plan invests in various investment securities.  Investment securities are exposed to 
various risks such as interest rate, market, and credit risk. Market risks include global 
events which could impact the value of investment securities, such as a pandemic or 
international conflict. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investment 
securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the values of investment 
securities will occur in the near term and that such changes could materially affect 
participants’ account balances and the amounts reported in the statements of net assets 
available for benefits. 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, approximately 73% and 77% of the Plan’s investments 
were invested in the Fidelity Freedom 2045 Fund and the Fidelity Freedom 2050 Fund, 
respectively.  



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

- 12 - 
 

( 9 )  Subsequent events 
 

The Plan has evaluated subsequent events through September 15, 2022, which is the 
date the financial statements were available to be issued. No significant matters were 
identified for disclosure during this evaluation. 
 



 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EWING MARION KAUFFMAN SCHOOL, INC. 403(b) RETIREMENT PLAN 

SCHEDULE H, LINE 4i – SCHEDULE OF ASSETS (HELD AT END OF YEAR) 

December 31, 2021 

 - 13 -

EIN: 27-1982958
Plan Number: 001

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e)
Description

of investments
including maturity

date, rate of interest, 
Identity of issue, borrower, collateral, par, or 

lessor, or similar party maturity value Cost
(1)

Mutual Fund $ 4,339 
Mutual Fund 7,738 
Mutual Fund 1,457 

Mutual Fund 721 
Mutual Fund 15,996 
Mutual Fund 20,281 
Mutual Fund 2,332 
Mutual Fund 3,620 
Mutual Fund 75,766 
Mutual Fund 1,592 
Mutual Fund 1,461 
Mutual Fund 3,444 
Mutual Fund 11,465 
Mutual Fund 1,432 
Mutual Fund 650,009 
Mutual Fund 1,673,373 

Mutual Fund 2,851 
Mutual Fund 43,282 
Mutual Fund 369,168 
Mutual Fund 6,743 
Mutual Fund 6,063 
Mutual Fund 217,159 
Mutual Fund 49,982 

* Fidelity OTC Portfolio Fund
* Fidelity Blue Chip Growth Fund Class K
* Fidelity Mid Cap Stock Fund
* Fidelity Government Money Market Fund 

Class K6
* Fidelity Freedom 2025 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Freedom 2040 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Total Bond Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Real Estate Index Fund
* Fidelity Freedom 2035 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Small Cap Growth Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Small Cap Value Fund
* Fidelity Small Cap Index Fund
* Fidelity International Index Fund
* Fidelity Mid Cap Enhanced Index Fund
* Fidelity Freedom 2045 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Freedom 2050 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity International Capital Appreciation 

Fund Class K6
* Fidelity 500 Index Fund
* Fidelity Freedom 2055 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Mid Cap Index Fund
* Fidelity Total Emerging Markets Fund
* Fidelity Freedom 2060 Fund Class K6
* Fidelity Balanced Fund
* Fidelity Freedom 2065 Fund Class K6 Mutual Fund 19,051 

$ 3,189,325 

* Party-in-interest as defined by ERISA
(1) Cost information may be omitted for plan assets which are participant-directed.

Current
value


